IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No.: 2008-KA-01663

ARTIS F. POWER

APPELLANT

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CHOCTAW COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED (Miss.R.App.Pro. 34(b))

T.H. FREELAND, IV MBN; JOYCE FREELAND MBN FREELAND & FREELAND, LAWYERS 1013 JACKSON AVE P.O. Box 269 OXFORD, MS 38655 (662) 234-3414

BILLIE JO WHITE MBN
WHITE LAW FIRM, P.A.
100 Maxwell Street
Starkville, MS 39759
(662) 561-5297
ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Artis Power vs. State of Mississippi

No.: 2008-KA-01663

I. ISSUES

- 1. Where a prosecutrix's testimony of statutory rape is substantially contradicted (by evidence of the defendant's incapacity due to impotence) must the prosecutrix's testimony be corroborated.
- 2. Where the only testimony of a statutory rape is from the prosecutrix, and there is utterly no physical, medical, or other corroborating evidence, must this court reverse the conviction because of the statutory requirement in Miss.Code.Ann. § 97-3-39 that the testimony of the prosecutrix must be corroborated.
- Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting an out-of-court statement by the prosecutrix made months after the alleged rape.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Artis Power was indicted in a three-count indictment by a grand jury in Choctaw County, Mississippi. Count I alleged that in December, 2006, he had committed statutory rape in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(1)(b) by having sexual intercourse with Brittney Stacy, who was under fourteen. R. 20.1 Count II alleged another instance of sexual intercourse with Brittney Stacy, alleged to have occurred in February, 2007 and Count III alleged sexual battery, alleged to have occurred in March, 2007. R. 20-21.

Power's case came on for trial on August 19, 2008. Tr. 1. Four witnesses testified for the prosecution: Paula Stacy (the alleged victim's mother), Tr. 107; Billy Blalack (on whose hunting lands some of the events of Count I allegedly took place), Tr. 119; Allison

¹The record or clerk's papers citations are in the form "R. __" and the transcript citations in the form "Tr. __."

Brittney Stacy's name is spelled inconsistently throughout the record—sometimes "Brittney," others "Brittney" and sometimes "Stacey," others "Stacy." In this brief, it is written "Brittney Stacy."

Pittman (the alleged victim's sister-in-law, who attempted to describe hearsay statements from the alleged victim), Tr. 125-128; and Brittney Stacy (the alleged victim), Tr. 130.

The only testimony about the alleged rapes and assault was from the alleged victim. There was no physical or other proof, and no witness corroborated the events that Brittney Stacy described. Stacy also testified, over a contemporaneous defense objection that was overruled, that months after the incident, she told her sister-in-law about it. Tr. 138.

At the close of the state's evidence, Power moved for a directed verdict. Tr. 149-151. Among the grounds were that the state had failed to meet its burden of proof, and that there was no physical evidence or any other corroborating evidence of the statutory rape. Tr. 149-150. The Trial Court overruled this motion. Tr. 151.

Power called his wife to testify; her testimony primarily consisted of an explanation of why her husband was physically impotent. She also discussed his habits as a hunter. Tr. 153-183. James Power (Tr. 184-190), Michael Hauge (Tr. 190-201), and Linda Power (Tr. 202-209) were family members who testified that they were around Artis Power in the home during the times Brittney Stacy claimed to have been assaulted there in February and March. They testified that the events she described could not have occurred. Additionally, Betty Ann Pittman, who is related to the alleged victim, described Stacy's behavior when she was telling law enforcement about the alleged rapes, and made clear she did not believe the alleged victim. Tr. 210-214.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on Count I (the alleged December incident) and not guilty on Counts II and III (the alleged February and March incidents). R. 107-108. On that same day, August 19, 2008, the Circuit Court sentenced Power to twenty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and entered its judgment to that effect. R. 107.

On August 29, 2008, Power filed a timely Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative Motion for a New Trial. R. 113. Among other issues, the motion reasserted that the state had failed to prove the rape charge. R. 113-114. On September 4, 2008, the Trial Court denied this motion. R. 130. On October 2, 2008, Artis Power filed a timely Notice of Appeal from which this appeal proceeds. R. 135.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the testimony of Paula Stacy, during December of 2006, her daughter Brittney was a babysitter for Appellant Artis Power and Mary Power's children. Tr. 110. Artis Power and Paula Stacy's husband James Stacy had a 20-plus-years friendship at that time. *Id.* Sometime during the spring of 2007, Brittney Stacy became "moody" and "mean to her brothers and sisters." Tr. 111. Paula Stacy admitted this behavior seemed "kind of normal," but "more often...than, you know, a teenager would be." *Id.*

Billy Blalack is a casual acquaintance of Artis Power, and had done some trading with him. Tr. 120. Appellant Artis Power had permission to hunt on Blalack's land, and Blalack saw Power on his land to hunt several times during December of 2006. Tr. 120. On one of these occasions, he saw Artis Power on his land in a black Chevy pick-up, accompanied by a "young lady" whose identity Blalack did not know at the time, but later learned was Brittney Stacy. Tr. 120-122. Blalack, on his four-wheeler, intercepted the truck and spoke with Power for 15-20 minutes. Tr. 121. There was a gun in the truck, and Power, an "avid hunter," was wearing camouflage. Tr. 121-122. During Blalack's and Power's conversation, Brittney Stacy sat and listened, but did not say anything. Tr. 123-124.

According to the testimony of Prosecutrix Brittney Stacy, in November of 2006, appellant Artis Power asked her parents if she could go deer hunting with him, which she did. Tr. 131. On that occasion, while on the deer stand, Power began rubbing her stomach,

The remaining defense testimony was largely concerned with events at Artis Power's house in February and March of 2007, and therefore related to counts II and III, on which he was acquitted. Tr. 172 & 209; see Supra at 2 (outlining testimony of other witnesses at trial). Betty Ann Pittman, a sister-in-law of the alleged victim, Tr. 210, described Brittney Stacy's behavior when she was first interviewed by law enforcement in mid-April. Tr. 211-12; see Tr. 146 (police came to Stacy's house in mid-April). She said Brittney "seemed happy. She didn't seem like she was upset or anything." Tr. 212. Pittman was surprised by Brittney's demeanor. Id. Brittney "was almost bragging". Id. An objection was then sustained to Pittman's statement that Brittney's behavior made her doubt Brittney was telling the truth. Tr. 213-214.

Power was acquitted of the charges relating to events in February and March. R. 107-108. He was convicted only on the charge relating to the events in December, R. 107-108, where Brittney testified he had sexual intercourse with her on a hunting trip. Tr. 132-134. Other than her testimony, there was no physical, medical, or other evidence about this incident.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This statutory rape prosecution was based solely on the slenderest of reeds: The uncorroborated testimony of a fourteen-year-old that she had sex with the defendant. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-69 "requires that the testimony of the prosecutrix must be corroborated by other evidence." *Howard v. State*, 417 So.2d 932, 933 (Miss. 1982). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that corroboration is particularly required where the account of the rape is contradicted by other evidence. Here, the account of the rape was contradicted by the testimony of the defendant's wife that he was impotent due to pain medication he was

taking. The Mississippi Supreme Court has expressly recognized that testimony of incapacity serves to contradict the prosecutrix's account, requiring that her testimony be corroborated.

The corroboration must be of the "secret part of the crime," that the prosecutrix and the defendant had sexual relations. For instance, admissions by a defendant—in one case, that he was in "a hell of a fix" with the prosecutrix who was pregnant—are corroborative. The prosecutrix's condition at the time—that she was upset, or disheveled, or (in one case) was wearing the defendant's clothing in a locked house with the defendant when another witness arrived—can be corroborative. Her report can be corroborated by the fact that she made an immediate report to someone else.

Nothing remotely like the corroborative evidence recognized by the Mississippi courts is present in this case. The alleged statutory rape in the count of conviction, Count I, occurred in December of 2006. The sole evidence of the prosecutrix's condition was from March or April of 2007. From December of 2006, there is only evidence that the defendant and the prosecutrix were together, going hunting. The Mississippi Supreme Court has squarely held that the fact of the defendant and prosecutrix being alone together is not corroborative, because it does not corroborate "the secret part of the crime." It does not corroborate that the prosecutrix had sexual intercourse with anyone.

Further, the evidence of the prosecutrix's condition, even months later, corroborates nothing. Her sister-in-law testified that, at the time of the report to the police in April of 2007, the prosecutrix "seemed happy. She didn't seem like she was upset or anything" and she was "almost bragging." Tr. 212. The prosecutrix's mother testified that, in the Spring of 2007, the prosecutrix was "moody... mean to her brothers and sisters... seems kind of normal... just more often than usual, you know, a teenager would be." Tr. 111. None of this

is suggestive of a victim, and none of this bears the remotest resemblance to the sort of behavior the Mississippi Courts have recognized as corroborative of rape testimony.

Where, as here, there is no evidence in corroboration, there is a failure of an essential element of the state's proof, and (as in *Howard* and other cases), this Court reverses the conviction and discharges the defendant.

The trial court compounded error by admitting an out-of-court statement by the prosecutrix from months after the alleged statutory rape, in an apparent attempt to bolster her testimony. The inadmissible hearsay statement was the prosecutrix's own testimony about what she told her sister-in-law, months after the fact. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held admission of such statements under these circumstances to be reversible error.

V. ARGUMENT

A. WHERE THERE IS EVIDENCE CONTRADICTING A STATUTORY RAPE CHARGE, THE CHARGE MUST BE INDEPENDENTLY CORROBORATED.

Artis Power was convicted on Count I of the indictment for violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(1)(b), statutory rape of a child under the age of fourteen. R. 20, 107-108. A victim's uncorroborated testimony is not sufficient for a conviction where the testimony is contradicted by other evidence. *Christian v. State*, 456 So.2d 729, 734 (Miss. 1984). This requirement of corroboration is statutory. "In order to affirm the conviction for statutory rape, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-69 (1972), requires that the testimony of the prosecutrix must be corroborated by other evidence." *Howard v. State*, 417 So.2d 932, 933 (Miss. 1982); see Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-69 (1972) ("[N]o person shall be convicted upon the uncorroborated testimony of the injured female.").

In Artis Power's case, there was testimony (from Power's wife) that Power was impotent and therefore incapable of having sexual relations due to medication he was using.

Tr. 169-171. Testimony that the defendant was incapable of having sex was held to contradict the alleged victim's testimony of rape in *Upton v. State*, 192 Miss. 339, 339, 6 So.2d 129, 129-130 (1942), in which the court held the corroboration requirement was not met, and a conviction was therefore reversed.

The Mississippi Supreme Court's cases on the corroboration requirement for rape are confusing because the cases are very fact and record dependent, and the Court has tended not to explain how the facts in each case generated the particular result. At first glance, it seems difficult to reconcile some of these cases with the explicit statutory requirement of corroboration. As will be shown below, the cases divide into three groups:

(1) Those where the testimony of the alleged victim is uncorroborated, but is not sufficiently contradicted by other evidence and a conviction therefore was upheld;

(2) Those where the testimony of the alleged victim was corroborated and therefore a conviction was upheld even though the testimony was contradicted; and (3) Those where the testimony of the alleged victim was both contradicted and uncorroborated, and a conviction was therefore reversed.

The language the Mississippi appellate courts use—that corroboration "must be, not merely of incidental details, but of the commission of the prohibited act," for instance, on the one hand, or that "[i]t's the jury's duty to weigh conflicting testimony and witness credibility," on the other hand—is not particularly helpful to resolve whether a jury verdict is to be upheld or overturned. The limited usefulness of these generalities in understanding the results in these cases was recognized by Justice Griffith as long ago as *Jones v. State*, 155 Miss. 335, 335, 124 So. 368, 369 (1929), a statutory rape prosecution in which the Court

³Howard v. State, 417 So.2d 932, 933 (Miss. 1982).

⁴Watson v. State, 848 So.2d 203, 213 (Miss. App. 2003). Watson is discussed more fully, infra at 13.

explicitly noted the "hundreds" of cases in which the result seemed determined by whether "the particular court was controlled on the one hand by the rule that verdicts of juries are not to be reversed... and on the other hand by the cautionary duty that was emphasized more than 200 years ago... that in such cases as this 'the accusation is easily made, hard to prove, and harder to be defended and disproved by the party accused, although ever so innocent." In *Jones*, admissions by the defendant and the victim's condition at the time served to corroborate the charge and the conviction was affirmed. While these very general principles are starting points, they do not help an appellate court resolve the specific question of whether the statutory corroboration requirement in this particular case was met.

Resolving rape cases with corroboration questions presents several distinct issues: What will suffice to "contradict" an alleged victim's testimony? If the testimony is contradicted, what will suffice to corroborate it? Physical evidence (suggesting that there was no rape, or that the defendant was incapable of committing rape) and alibi evidence have been held sufficient to contradict the victim's testimony and require corroboration, while testimony from the defendant denying commission of the offense (standing alone) has not. Although the court's classic formulations of the corroboration requirement have required substantiation of the commission of the prohibited act by the defendant, this requirement has been loosened somewhat; proof that a rape or (with statutory rape charges) sexual intercourse occurred has sufficed to meet the corroboration requirement.

It is where there is corroboration that the resolution of the inconsistencies becomes a jury question. *Blade v. State*, 240 Miss. 183, 188-89, 126 So.2d 278, 280 (1961)(holding that corroboration made the question one for the jury, although the opinion explains neither the contradictions nor what corroborated the victim's account). The Court's language that

inconsistencies are properly to be resolved by a jury only apply when the victim's testimony is either not contradicted, or where it is corroborated.

Some cases are simple to categorize. Obviously, where the defendant has confessed to the crime, his own admission serves to corroborate the victim's testimony. See Knight v. State, 751 So.2d 1144, 1148 (Miss. App. 1999) (holding that admission by defendant corroborated victim's testimony); Smith v. State, 188 Miss. 339, 194 So. 922, 923 (1940) (admissions by defendant that he got the victim "in trouble," combined with her pregnancy and that they were alone together in his truck all served to corroborate the victim's testimony); compare Gillis v. State, 152 Miss. 551, 120 So. 455, 456 (1929) (on similar evidence, but lacking the admissions by the defendant, corroboration not established).⁵ Where there was physical evidence of the rape (an 8-year-old had injuries consistent with rape and contracted a venereal disease), and nothing contradicted the victim's account, the lack of contradiction and the corroboration both resulted in an affirmance of a conviction for capital rape. Taylor v. State, 744 So.2d 306, 312-13 (Miss. 1999); Gordon v. State, 977 So.2d 420 (Miss. App. 2008) (medical evidence of sexual assault corroborated victim's account); Withers v. State, 907 So.2d 342, 351-52 (Miss. 2005) (medical testimony that the twelve-year-old victim's condition was consistent with sexual activity, combined with testimony of others in the house that defendant locked himself in the bathroom with her, and victim's report to them of the rape all corroborated her testimony). Where the victim immediately reports the rape, and that report is consistent with her later account of the rape, that serves to corroborate her testimony. Green v. State, 887 So.2d 840, 845-46 (Miss.

⁵Obviously, where there is no contradiction between the other evidence and the victim's story, and the victim's story is corroborated, then the conviction will be affirmed. *Collier v. State*, 711 So.2d 458, 462 (Miss. 1998); *Lee v. State*, 242 Miss. 97, 105-06, 134 So.2d 145, 148-49 (1961)

App. 2004); see Riley v. State, 797 So.2d 285, 288 (Miss. 2001) (additionally, other evidence corroborated the victim's account). This is particularly so where medical reports establish that her condition is consistent with rape. Magee v. State, 966 So.2d 173, 179-80 (Miss. App. 2007); see Watson v. State, 848 So.2d 203, 212-13 (Miss. 2003) (physical and mental condition of victim combined with her immediate report corroborated charge); Inman v. State, 515 So.2d 1150 (Miss. 1987) (medical testimony about victim having been beaten, requiring stitches, her immediate report of the incident, and the presence of sperm all corroborated her account of the rape); Goode v. State, 245 Miss. 391, 146 So.2d 74 (1962) (medical testimony combined with immediate outcry to corroborate victim's testimony); Dubose v. State, 320 So.2d 773, 774 (Miss. 1975) (medical testimony that there had been a rape combined with a suspicious statement by the defendant—denying that he had "bothered no woman" before he knew he was being charged—corroborated rape in spite of alibi). While an immediate report at least partially establishes corroboration, inconsistencies in the behavior of the victim do not require reversal in a case where there is proof of the defendant's fingerprints on the window to the victim's home, and where the defendant has the same blood type as that of semen taken from the victim (a blood type shared by only 7% of the population). Clemons v. State, 460 So.2d 835, 837-38 (Miss. When another witness to the rape corroborates the victim's account, the 1984). corroboration requirement is met. Brown v. State, 751 So.2d 1155, 1156 (Miss. App. 1999).

Where the defendant cannot point to any contradiction between the victim's testimony and other facts or testimony, there is no contradiction and the corroboration requirement does not compel reversal. *Davis v. State*, 920 So.2d 1228, 1230 (Miss. App. 2005). The contradiction shown must relate to the incident itself. *Goss v. State*, 465

So.2d 1079 (Miss. 1985) (testimony was corroborated, and alleged contradiction—that victim later accepted rides from defendant—did not relate to incident itself); see McKnight v. State, 738 So.2d 312, 315-16 (Miss. App. 1999) (admission by victim that she lied about being a virgin did not contradict her account of the sexual battery itself).

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