IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ARTIS F. POWER

APPELLANT

VS.

÷

NO. 2008-KA-1663

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

This statute first appeared in the 1914 code and was carried forward in the subsequent codes of the State.

Currently, "the last preceding section" is Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-68 (Rev. 2006). That statute, enacted by the legislature in 1977, Miss. Laws, 1977, Ch. 438, Section 1, prescribes the procedure to be availed of in rape cases where the sexual conduct of the complaining witness is offered in order to attack her credibility. It is doubtful, though, that the legislature intended the "last preceding section" language to refer to Section 97-3-68. Section 97-3-68 defines no crime, only a procedure to be followed in certain circumstances, and Section 97-3-69 long predated the existence of Section 97-3-68.

The "last preceding section" reference in Section 97-3-69 was a reference to Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-67 (Supp. 1997), a statute which was repealed in 1998. Miss. Laws, 1998, Ch. 549, Section 6. Section 97-3-67 was as follows:

> Any person who shall have carnal knowledge of any unmarried person of previously chaste character younger than himself or herself and over fourteen (14) and under eighteen (18) years of age, upon conviction shall be punished either by a fine not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00), or by imprisonment in the county jail not longer than six (6) months, or by both such fine and imprisonment or by imprisonment in the penitentiary not exceeding five (5) years; and such punishment, within said limitation, shall be fixed by the jury trying each case, or by the court upon entry of a plea of guilty.

That Section 97-3-67 was the "last preceding section" referred to in Section 97-3-69 is demonstrated by the fact in the 1942 code Section 97-3-69 was codified at Section 2360 while

Section 97-3-67 was codified at Section 2359; that in the 1930 code, Section 97-3-69 was codified at Section 1124 and Section 97-3-67 codified at 1123; and that in Hemingway's 1917 code what became Section 97-3-67 was the statute that immediately preceded what is now Section 97-3-69. The "last preceding section" language referred to and could only have referred to Section 97-3-67.

As we have said, Section 97-3-67 was repealed in 1998. Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-65 (Supp. 2008) was the statute upon which the case at bar was based. However, it does not "immediately precede" Section 97-3-69, and Section 97-3-69 has no application to it, by the very words of Section 97-3-69. Neither Section 97-3-69 nor its precursors have ever applied to Section 97-3-65 or its precursors.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the unsubstantiated and uncorroborated testimony of a victim of statutory rape is sufficient to support a verdict of guilty where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence. *Parramore v. State*, 5 So.3rd 1074, 1077 - 1078 (Miss. 2009); *Price v. State*, 898 So.2d 641, 651 (Miss. 2005). This Honorable Court has held that "[t]otally uncorroborated testimony of a victim is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where the testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other evidence." *Farrish v. State*, 920 So.2d 1066, 1068 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). While it may be that the Courts in those decisions (and those decisions are not the only ones reported setting out this principle of law) did not specifically address Section 97-3-69 with respect to the sufficiency of the uncorroborated testimony of a victim, those decisions must surely be seen as having recognized that Section 97-3-69 has no application to prosecutions involving Section 97-3-65. We have found no decision applying Section 97-3-69 to a prosecution under Section 97-3-65. Indeed, the

last reported decision we have found in which a failure to comply with Section 97-3-69 worked a reversal of a conviction was one involving a prosecution under Section 97-3-67. *Howard v. State*, 417 So.2d 932 (Miss. 1982). Given the appellate courts' decisions in this regard and the fact that the statute to which Section 97-3-69 related has been repealed, nothing in Section 97-3-69 applies to a prosecution under Section 97-3-65.

B. That the testimony of the victim was sufficient to permit the jury to determine the case

The Appellant, in an attempt to demonstrate that there is a requirement of corroboration, at least in an instance in which there is evidence said to be in conflict with a victim's testimony, embarks upon a lengthy attempt to categorize the decisions of the appellate courts. One must certainly must admire the effort made, yet it is perhaps a matter of missing the tree for the forest. And the attempt does not take into account the fact that the uncorroborated testimony of a statutory rape victim is sufficient upon which to base a conviction.

The Appellant begins with an allegation that testimony to the effect that the accused was impotent is testimony sufficient to contradict a victim's testimony, citing *Upton v. State*, 192 Miss. 339, 6 So.2d 129 (1942). (Brief for the Appellant, at 8). *Upton*, though, involved a prosecution for forcible rape. While it is true that there was testimony by the defense to the effect that the accused in that case was impotent, it was not that testimony alone that caused the Mississippi Supreme Court to order a new trial. The Court did so because: (1) lack of marks of violence on the person of the victim; (2) two "highly improbable accompaniments of such conduct"; (3) the victim's conduct subsequent to the alleged rape, which appeared to suggest that she was not conscious that a wrong had been committed against her; and (4) conduct on the part of the accused, which suggested that he was not aware that he had wronged the victim.

In addition to the fact that the Court did not in *Upton* hold that testimony concerning impotence was sufficient to require corroboration of the victim's testimony, the Court specifically held that a rape victim's testimony does not require corroboration. *Upton* is a forcible rape case, does not stand for the proposition that a rape victim's testimony must be corroborated, and does not stand for the proposition that testimony concerning impotency on the part of the accused is sufficient to contradict the victim's testimony so as to set into place a requirement of corroboration of the victim's testimony. The Appellant presents no decision, and we have found no decision, to demonstrate that a claim of impotency is of itself sufficient to amount to a contradiction of a victim's testimony.

The testimony by the Appellant's wife in this regard did not contradict the victim's account. That testimony suggested, albeit weakly, that the Appellant was not capable of sexual intercourse, but it was not testimony that directly contradicted the victim's testimony.

The Appellant then tells this Honorable Court that not only is there a requirement of corroboration but that such corroboration "must be, not of the incidental details, but of the commission of the prohibited act", citing *Howard v. State*, 417 So.2d 932 (Miss. 1982) and *Yancey v. State*, 202 Miss. 662, 32 So.2d 151 (1947) and earlier decisions. (Brief for the Appellant, at 8; 13 - 14). These decisions, however, were based upon Section 97-3-67 or, in the *Yancey* decision, a statute making it a criminal act to have carnal knowledge of a girl under the age of twelve. Again, whatever those decisions may have held, *Parramore, supra*, and a number of other decisions as well demonstrate that there is not a requirement of corroboration now.

The Appellant then embarks upon a lengthy discussion of decisions in an attempt to show what has been found sufficient or insufficient to corroborate a victim's testimony. It is not

surprising to find that many different factual situations have been considered in this regard. But the fact that the State will introduce evidence to corroborate a victim's testimony, where that evidence is available, does not require the conclusion that the State is required to do so under current law.

Whatever may have been the law in the past, when Section 97-3-67 was a part of the

Mississippi Code, it is not the law now that there must be corroboration "of the commission of

the prohibited act." The Mississippi Supreme Court has this year restated the rule now extant:

An individual may be found guilty of rape on the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecuting witness, where the testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence. *Withers v. State,* 907 So.2d 342, 353 (Miss.2005) (persons accused of statutory rape "may be found guilty on the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness.") (citation omitted); *Killingsworth v. State,* 374 So.2d 221, 223 (Miss.1979) ("[w]hile it is true that a conviction for rape may rest on the uncorroborated testimony of the person raped, that testimony should always be scrutinized with caution."); *Dubose v. State,* 320 So.2d 773, 774 (Miss.1975) ("the testimony of the victim of a rape may be sufficient to support a guilty verdict where the victim's testimony is neither contradicted nor discredited by other evidence or by surrounding circumstances."); *Blade v. State,* 240 Miss. 183, 188, 126 So.2d 278, 280 (1961) (the testimony of the prosecutrix in a rape case "does not need corroboration ...").

Parramore v. State, 5 So.3rd 1074, 1077 - 1078 (Miss. 2009); See also Woods v. State, 973 So.2d

1022, 1031 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

We now turn to the facts and reasonable inferences therefrom in support of conviction

under Count 1 of the indictment (R. Vol. 1, pg. 20).

The victim testified that the Appellant took her to Blalack's field in December of 2006.

While in Blalack's field, the Appellant inserted his penis into her vagina. The Appellant then

took the victim to Brook's deer stand, where he repeated that act. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 133 - 134).

Blalack testified that he saw the Appellant and the victim on his property in the Appellant's

truck. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 120 - 124). The victim told her sister - in - law in early 2007 that the

Appellant and the victim had done something but that the victim had not wanted to do it. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 126). The victim's mother noticed that the victim was moody in early 2007. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 111). The Appellant's wife testified that she knew that the Appellant took the victim to Brooks' deer stand. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 175).

The victim's testimony was not discredited. It was corroborated to some extent by Blalack and the Appellant's wife. The question then, simply, is whether the Appellant's wife's testimony concerning the Appellant's alleged impotence was sufficient to contradict the victim's testimony, or whether that testimony was simply a matter for the jury to consider.

The Appellant did not testify as to his alleged impotency. His wife did so testify, yet she also stated that the problem arose at the end of July in 2006 and that the Appellant did not supposedly seek medical assistance for his alleged impotency until after he was arrested in April of 2007. (R. Vol. 4, 177 - 179). This testimony did not contradict the victim's testimony. It merely suggested that the Appellant might not have been able to perform sexually. This suggestion of impotency was simply a matter for the jury to consider. *Sheely v. State*, 836 So.2d 798, 803 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)(Claim of impotence, complaint for which was not made until after arrest of defendant for a sex crime against a child, did not serve to impeach or discredit testimony of the child). Even had there been testimony from the defense denying that the act or acts of sexual intercourse ever occurred, the most that could be said as to the effect of such testimony would be that it was a matter for the jury to consider while considering the weight and credibility of the evidence. *Price v. State*, 898 So.2d 641, 651 - 652 (Miss. 2005).

The First and Second Assignments of Error are without merit.

2. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT; THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE VICTIM'S PRIOR CONSISTENT STATEMENT

In the Appellant's Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in admitting hearsay testimony from the victim. It is said that the victim was permitted to testify to a statement she made to her sister - in - law about what the Appellant had done to her.

Toward the conclusion of the direct examination of the victim, the prosecutor asked the victim whether she had told anyone "about all this." The victim replied that she told her sister - in - law. The defense objected on grounds of hearsay; the trial court overruled the objection, stating that the question put to the witness did not call for an answer that would be hearsay. The prosecutor then asked the victim who her sister - in - law was, and then asked the victim what she had told her sister - in - law. There was no objection to the latter question, and the victim responded that she told her sister - in - law that the Appellant had had sex with her. The victim went on to testify, again without objection by the defense, that her sister - in - law told her sister - in - law about what the victim told her. It is unclear when the victim told her sister - in - law about what the Appellant had done beyond that it was in early 2007. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 138 - 139).

Hearsay is a statement, other than the one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. M.R.E. 801(c). The answer given by the victim to the question that was objected to was not hearsay. It was a simple statement of fact – a statement that she had made a statement to her sister - in - law. She did not, by way of contrast, relate what she said to her sister - in - law in that answer, only the fact that she said something to the sister - in law. Testimony as to the fact that a statement was made is not hearsay. As to the rest of the testimony, which possibly included hearsay statements,

there was no objection to that testimony as it was given. Consequently, the Appellant may not be heard to complain of those answers. *Jordan v. State*, 995 So.2d 94, 112 (Miss. 2008).

In addition to those considerations, we will point out that, prior to the testimony of the victim, the sister - in - law testified, without objection, that the victim "... said that her and [Appellant] had done something. And she told him "no, that she did not want to do it, but he done it anyways." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 126). In view of this testimony, error, if any, in admitting the victim's testimony as to the fact that she made a statement to her sister - in - law was not prejudicial to the Appellant. *Harris v. State*, 970 So.2d 151, 155 (Miss. 2007). The substance of what the victim told the sister - in - law was already in evidence by the time the victim testified that she had made a statement to her sister - in - law.

The prosecutor did not advance a ground for admission, and the trial court, having no objection before it, had no reason to explain a basis for admission. While the Appellant relies upon *Leatherwood v. State*, 548 So.2d 389 (Miss. 1989) in his effort to demonstrate error in the admission of the victim's testimony, there was a proper and contemporaneous objection in *Leatherwood* which preserved the point on appeal. There was, as we have said, none here.

Nonetheless, we note that, beginning with the opening statement for the defense, it was the theory of the defense that it was impossible for the Appellant to have committed the acts comprising the felonies charged against him, that there was a conflict between the victim's family and the Appellant, and that the victim was simply caught up in a "vendetta." (R. Vol. 3, pp. 100 - 102). As such, the claim made by the defense amounted either to a claim of recent fabrication or improper motive or influence. The prior consistent statement was thus admissible

under M.R.E. 801(d)(1)(B). Barnett v. State, 757 So.2d 323, 330 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).³

In the event, however, that this Court should find that there were proper contemporaneous objections, and that admission of such testimony was erroneous, we submit that any such error was harmless. This case was not one of a victim's word against an accused's word. The victim's testimony was corroborated in part. The Appellant did not give testimony. *Veasley v. State*, 735 So.2d 432 (Miss. 1999), cited by the Appellant, was a case in which there was only the testimony of the accuser and the accused. The testimony by the victim's sister - in - law did not likely significantly contribute to the verdict of the jury. The statement she testified to told the jurors nothing more than what the victim told them. Any error in the admission of the testimony was harmless.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

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